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In the strange landscape of the European Middle Ages everything stood for something else, and that something else was God.  'We understand a thing,' wrote a medieval thinker, 'only when we see the divine plan within it.'  The visible always pointed to the invisible.

The way to get through this strange landscape, the way to make sense of it, was to follow the light—light which, as the Gospel of St John had put it, 'shineth in darkness, by which all things were made, and that enlighteneth every man.'  If, as was generally believed, the world was God's work of art, a work of art which was ordered in measure and number and weight, then light provided the means of understanding it.

And human works of art achieved significance, or meaning, only insofar as they managed to reveal the splendor veritatis, or the light of Truth, by becoming shadow versions of the Creator's work.  The great medieval cathedrals of the twelfth and thirteenth centuries were more than anything else a new architecture of light—a way of reaching out towards God.  They were encyclopaedias of the latest thought, art and engineering; experimental laboratories where geometry plus craft techniques could be tested out; facsimiles of the Heavenly City itself which pilgrims believed would descend from the skies at the end of the world—an ordered city, garnished with precious stones.  Almost literally out of this world.  

The historian Jean Gimpel has written, 'in three centuries—from 1050 to 1350—several million tons of stone were quarried in France for the building of 80 cathedrals, 500 large churches and some tens of thousands of parish churches.  More stone was excavated in France during these three centuries than at any time in Ancient Egypt.'  And each building was intended to be an image or reflection of the divine artist and His creation.  To the medieval pilgrim, who was used to small single-storey houses made of wood and plaster and straw, they must have seemed like glimpses of paradise.  No wonder people travelled hundreds of miles, on unpaved roads or Roman roads which had long since gone to seed, to see them. [39-40]

It was at the royal abbey of St Denis just a few miles north of Paris, which housed the ever-popular relics of the patron saint of France and the bones of its kings—and which was visited by thousands of enthusiastic pilgrims every year—that the very first church 'in the French style' or opus Francigenum as it was called, was built.  It was started in 1136 and it pioneered a brand new architecture, the architecture of light.

One man was the visionary—and the client—who inspired this new style, Abbot Suger of St Denis (1085-1151).  He was born into a farming family, went to a monastery school with the future King Louis VI and eventually became Chief Minister of France when Louis VII was away crusading.  He had been given to the abbey of St Denis as a child so it is little wonder that he saw the Church as a whole and more specifically the abbey as his 'mother'. . . . He was very short in stature and came from an ordinary background, but he never seems to have felt inhibited by his illustrious surroundings.  Indeed, over the entrance of the abbey he rebuilt, a symbol of the gates of heaven, he depicted himself—not quite life size—at the feet of Christ.

It is clear from Suger's writings that he was absolutely devoted to France's patron saint, St Denis, and to his church.  The central authority exercised by King Louis, and therefore the unity of France itself, were for him symbolized or even vested in the abbey of St Denis.  He particularly enjoyed the fact that many illustrious people attended celebrations in his church.  It is also clear that he was a man of boundless energy, full of big ideas . . . But, beyond all this, Suger was obsessed with the subject of light.

His inscription, commemorating the consecration of the rebuilt east end of the abbey, attempted to describe the effect it would have on the rest of the building:

Once the new rear part is joined
to the part in front,
The church shines with its middle
part brightened.
For bright is that which is brightly
coupled with the bright,
And bright is the noble edifice
which is pervaded by the new light . . . .

The 'new light' could be interpreted at two different levels—in the sense of the actual lighting conditions made possible by the new architecture and also in the sense of the light of the New Testament as opposed to the Old, which was (in St Augustine's phrase) covered with a veil.  The word he used for light was claritas, meaning the radiance or splendour which flowed from 'the Father of the lights'.

Suger reckoned that he had the strongest possible theological justification for his light obsession—and his related passion for gold and jewels and all things precious—in the writings of the great St Denis himself . . . . It was the light of the Greek philosophers, which symbolized the goodness and knowledge towards which human beings struggled, and the light of the Gospel of St John 'by which all things were made'.  The more a thing had light reflected onto it, the more it became an 'image' of its creator.  As Suger wrote, it was light, reflected through glass or onto precious surfaces which transported him 'to some strange region of the universe between the slime of earth and the purity of heaven'.

[So] Suger put up coloured glass windows of sapphire blue, ruby red and emerald green, to filter the light as it shone down onto the relics, displayed on a sumptuous golden altar which also displayed a great cross studded with jewels and inlaid with emeralds: he was not the first to have used coloured glass; but he was the first to make it central to the experience of entering a church.  The glass and the roomy, transparent interior were not however just the result of philosophy.  They were also practical exercises in crowd control . . . To realize his philosophy of light, and to ease the flow of visitors, Suger remodelled the church by knocking down the dark forests of pillars and cramped walls, to make way for a lighter, more open and more spacious interior . . . 

[In response to critics] Suger replied . . . "Those who criticize us claim that the sacred function needs only a holy soul and a pure mind.  We certainly agree that these are what principally matter, but we believe also that we should worship through the outward ornaments of sacred vessels . . . and this with all inner purity and with all outward splendour.'  And on the great gilded doors of the central west portal of the church he rebuilt, he had inscribed [in Latin] . . . a summary of his theology of light:

Whoever thou art, if thou seekest to extol the glory of these doors,
Marvel not at the gold and the expense but at the craftsmanship of the work.
Bright is the noble work; but, being nobly bright, the work
Should brighten the minds so that they may travel, through the true lights

To the True Light where Christ is the true door.
In what manner it be inherent in this world the gold door defines:
The dull mind rises to truth through that which is material
And, seeing this light, is resurrected from its former submersion.

Questions:
1) From reading Suger’s own writings [S, 211-213] & the excerpts from Frayling above, how were Suger’s theological views reflected in the new style of architecture we call Gothic?
2) How are Suger’s architectural views linked to his ideas about the French monarchy [see 321-322, your textbook]?
